
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No: II-8OI7S-CR-RYSKAMP/HOPKINS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Flll,i n tiff,

VS.

KIMBERLY S. DAISE,

Defendant.

/

PLEA AGREEMENT

The United States of America and KIMBERLY S. DAISE, (hereinafter referred to as

the ''defendant'') enter into the following agreement:

1. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to count one of an information which

charges the defendant with conspiracy to commit fraud on a federally insured financial

institution and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18
, United States Code, Section 1349, in

relation to moneys obtained as a result of mortgage money received from EverBank forthe

purchase of a residence Iocated at10543 Versailles Blvd
., W ellington, Florida and from

First Franklin, a division of National City Bank for the purchase of a residence Iocated at

10727 Versailles Blvd., W ellington
, Florida. The United States and the defendant agree

that this plea will resolve alI outstanding charges related to defendant
, and to defendant's

household and family members, in the Southern District of Florida known to the United
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States at the time the plea is entered so Iong as defendant complies with paragraph 6 of

this plea agreement. Defendant also agrees
, as a condition of the acceptance of her plea

of guilty and in compliance with this agreement
, that she will resign and surrender her

license to practice Iaw in the State of Florida to the o#ice of Disciplinary Counsel for the

Florida Bar, with a letter confirming said surrender and the conditions Iisted in this

agreement, and any otherjurisdiction in which she is permitted to practice Iaw and not seek

reinstatement of her Iicense to practice before the completion of her sentence including

any term of supervised release, and close her Iaw office
, on or before the date defendant

enters her plea of guilty in this matter.

2. The defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the court after

considering the Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter

'dsentencing Guidelinesn).The defendant acknowledges and understands that the coud

will computean advisorysentence underthe Sentencing Guidelines andthatthe applicable

guidelines will be determined by the court relying in part on the results of a Pre-sentence

Investigation by the court's probation office
, which investigation will commence aqer the

guilty plea has been entered. The defendant is also aware that
, under certain

circumstances, the Court may depad from the advisory sentencing guideline range that it

has computed, and may raise or lower that advisory sentence under the Sentencing

Guidelines. The defendant is further aware and understands that the coud is required to

considerthe advisory guideline range determ ined underthe Sentencing Guidelines
, but is

not bound to impose that sentence'
, the coud is permitted to tailor the ultimate sentence

2
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in Iight of other statutory concerns
, and such sentence may be either more severe or Iess

severe than the Sentencing Guidelines' advisory sentence
. Knowing these facts

, the

defendant understands and acknowledges that the coud has the authority to impose any

sentence up to the statutory m aximum authorized by Iaw for the offense identified in

paragraph 1 and that the defendant may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the

sentence imposed.

The defendant agrees that she shall cooperate fully with this Office by:

and testimony, and producing

documents, records and otherevidence
, when called upon by this Office in interviews; and

(b) appearing at such grand jury proceedings, hearings and trials
, and otherjudicial

proceedings, and at meetings, as may be required by this Office
.

4, This Office reserves the right to evaluate the nature and extent of the

(a) providing truthful and complete information

defendant's cooperation and to make the defendant's cooperation
, or Iack thereof, known

to the court at the time of sentencing. If in the sole and unreviewable judgment of this

Office the defendant's cooperation is of such quality and significance to the investigation

or prosecution of other criminal matters as to warrant the coud's downward departure from

the sentence required by the Sentencing Guidelines
, this Office may at or before

sentencing make a motion pursuant to Section 5K1
. 1 of the Sentencing Guidelines

, 18

U.S.C. j3553(e), or a Rule 35 motion subsequent to sentencing
, reflecting that the

defendant has provided substantial assistance and recommending sentence reduction
.

The defendant acknowledges and agrees
, however, that nothing in this Agreement may
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be construed to require this Office to file such a motion and that this Office's assessment

of the nature, value, truthfulness, completeness
, ànd accuracy of the defendant's

cooperation shall be binding on the defendant. ln addition, the defendant understands that

the United States will not file such a motion if the defendant: (1) fails or refuses to make

full accurate and complete disclosure of aII criminal activity about which the defendant is

questioned', (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to the government prior to entering

this plea agreement', or (3) commits any miscondudt after entering this plea agreement
,

including but not Iim ited to committing a state or federal offense
, violating any term of

release, making false statements or misrepresentations to any governmental entity or

official, or refusing to comply with any court order.

5. The defendant understands and acknowledges that the court is under no

obligation to grant a government motion pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section

35534e), 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines or Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal

Procedure, as referred to in paragraph 4 of this agreement
, should the government

exercise its discretion to file such a motion.

6. The Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida

reserves the right to make a recommendation as to the quality and quantity of punishment

and reserves the right to inform the coud and the probation office of aII facts pertinent to

the sentencing process, including aII relevant information concerning the defendant and

her background. The United States agrees that it will recommend at sentencing that the

court reduce by two Ievels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the defendant's

4
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offense, pursuant to Section 3E1.1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the

defendant's recognition and affirmative and timely acceptance of personal responsibility
.

If at the time of sentencing the defendant's offense Ievel is determ ined to be 16 or greater
,

the government will make a motion requesting an additional one Ievel decrease pursuant

to Section 3E1.1(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines, stating that the defendant has assisted

authorities in the investigation or prosecution of her own misconduct by timely notifying

authorities of her intention to enter a plea of guilty
, thereby permitting the government to

avoid preparing for trial and permitting the government and the court to allocate their

resources efficiently. The United States further agrees to recommend that the defendant

be sentenced at the Iow end of the guideline range
, as that range is determined by the

coud. The United States also agrees that it will not recommend that Guidelines Sections

2B1.1(b)(9), 3B1.1 or 381.3 be applied when calculating the guideline range in this matter
.

The United States, however, will not be required to make these motions and

recommendations if the defendant: (1) fails or refuses to make a full, accurate and

complete disclosure to the probation office of the circumstances surrounding the relevant

offense conduct; (2) is found to have misrepresented facts to the government prior to

entering into this plea agreement'
, or (3) commits any misconduct after entering into this

plea agreement, including but not Iimited to com mitting a state or federal offense
, violating

anyterm of release, ormaking false statements ormisrepresentations to anygovernmental

entity or official.

5
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The defendant understands and agrees that the court is under no obligation

to grant a government motion pursuant to 5K1
.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines

, as referred

to in paragraph 4 of this agreement, should the government exercise its discretion to file

such a motion. The United States and the defendant understand and agree that the co
urt

may im pose any sentence authorized by Iaw and that the defendant may notwithdraw he
r

plea solely as a result of sentence imposed
. The defendant also understands and

acknowledges that the court may impose a statutory maximum term of im prisonm
ent of up

to 30 years imprisonment and up to 5 years of supervised release as to the cou
nt of the

indictment to which she is pleading guilty
. ln addition to a term of imprisonment and

supervised release, the Court may impose a fine of up to $1 
,000,000. The defendant also

acknowledges that she will be ordered to pay restitution
, in the amount $811,500 to

EverBank (or its successor corporation) and in the amount of $1
,040,000 to First Franklin,

a division of National City Bank (or its successor corporation) as to the count of conviction
,

for restitution in the amount of $1,851,500, which is the same as the loss amount upon

which sentencing guidelines shall be calculated
.

8. Thedefendantfudherunderstandsand acknowledgesthat
, in addition to any

sentence imposed under paragraph 7 of this agreement
, a special assessment in the

amount of $100 as to the count of conviction will be imposed on the defendant
. The

defendant agrees that any special assessment imposed shall be paid at the tim
e of

sentencing.
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9. The Office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida

(hereinafter ''Office'') reserves the right to inform the coud and the probation office of aII

facts pedinent to the sentencing process, including aII relevant information concerning the

offenses committed, whether charged or not, as well as concerning the defendant and the

defendant's background. Subjectonlytotheexpressterms of anyagreed-upon sentencing

recommendations contained in this agreement, this Office fudher reserves the right to

make any recommendation as to the quality and quantity of punishment.

10. The defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with

respect to the defendant's immigration status if the defendant is not a natural-born citizen

of the United States. Under federal Iaw, a broad range of crim es are removable offenses,

including the offenses to which the defendant is pleading guilty. Under certain

circumstances, denaturalization may also be a consequence of pleading guilty to a crime.

Removal, denaturalization, and other immigration consequences are the subject of

separate proceedings, however and the defendant understands that no one, including the

defendant's attorney or the district court, can predict to a certainty the effect of the

defendant's conviction on thedefendant's immigration status. Thedefendant nevedheless

affirms that the defendant wants to plead guilty regardless of any imm igration

consequences that the defendant's plea may entail, even if the consequences are the

defendant's denaturalization and autom atic removal from the United States.

The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determ ined by

the court. The defendant also is aware that any estim ate of the probable sentencing range
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or sentence that the defendant may receive, whether that estimate comes from the

defendant's attorney, the government, or the probation office, is a prediction, not a

promise, and is not binding on the government, the probation office or the court. The

defendant understandsfurtherthatany recomm endationthatthe governmentmakestothe

court as to sentencing, whether pursuant to this agreement or otherwise, is not binding on

the court and the court may disregard the recommendation in its entirety. The defendant

understands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in paragraph 2 above
, that

the defendant may not withdraw the defendant's guilty plea based upon the coud's

decision not to accept a sentencing recommendation made by the defendant, the

government, or a recommendation jointly made by both the defendant and the

government.

SENTENCING APPEAL W AIVER

12. The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 affords

the defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case. Acknowledging this
,

in exchange for the undertakings m ade by the United States in this plea agreement
, the

defendant hereby waives aII rights conferred by Title 18, United States Code
, Section

3742, to appeal any sentence imposed, including any restitution order
, or to appeal the

manner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum

perm itted by statute or is the result of an upward departure and/or a variance from the

guideline range that the coud establishes at sentencing. The defendant fudher

understands that nothing in this agreement shall affect the government's right and/or duty
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to appeal as set forth in 18 U.S.C. j3742(b). However, if the United States appeals the

defendant's sentence pursuant to Section 3742(b), the defendant shall be released from

the above waiver of appellate rights. The defendant understands that, although defendant

will be sentenced in conform ity with the Sentencing Guidelines, by this agreement

defendant waives the right to appeal the sentence on the basis that the sentence is the

result of an incorrect application of the Sentence Guidelines. ln addition, the defendant

understands that in some instances he may have a right to attack his conviction and

sentence pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 2255. Acknowledging this, in

exchange for the undertakings made by the United States in this plea agreement
, the

defendant hereby waives aII rights conferred by Title 28, United States Code, Section

2255, to collaterally attack any sentence imposed, including any restitution order, or to

attack the manner in which the sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the

maximum permitted by statute. By signing this agreem ent, the defendant acknowledges

that he has discussed the appeal waiver and the waiver of his right to attack the conviction

and sentence pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 2255, set forth in this

agreement with his attorney. The defendant further agrees, together with thë United

States, to request that the district court enter a specific finding that the defendant's waiver

of his right to appeal the sentence to be imposed in this case was knowing and voluntary.

9
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understanding between the United States and the

defendant is the entire agreement between the United States and the defendant. There

are no other agreements, promises, representations, or understandings.

13. This agreement and

W IFREDO A. FERRER
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

Date: l zo1 > By:
LLEN L. COHEN

ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/ /-/A-Date:
CHAEL D. W ALSH

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT KIMBERLY S. DAISE

KIM Y S. DAISE
DEFENDANT

Date: ? J-.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No: II/OI7S-CR-RYSKAMP/HOPKINS

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Plainti/,

VS.

KIMBERLY S. DAISE,

Defendant.
I

STIPULATED FACTUAL PROFFER IN SUPPORT OF THE GUILR  PLEA

COMES NOW , the United States of America, by and through its undersigned

Assistant United States Attorney, and the defendant together with her counsel, and

stipulate that the following shall constitute the underlying factual basis for entry of pleas

of guilty to the indictment in this case:

1, KIMBERLY S. DAISE, hereby acknowledge the Government could prove

beyond a reasonable doubt, and admit my role in the following:

From at Ieast as early as on or about July 23, 2006, and continuing up to at Ieast

November 15, 2006, at Palm Beach, Broward, and Miami-Dade Counties, in the

Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, I did willfully with the intent to further the

objects of a conspiracy, knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, agree, and reach a

tacit understanding with persons both known and unknown, to commit the offense of

fraud on a financial institution and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States
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Code, Sections 1344 and 1343, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1349.

It was the purpose and object of the conspiracy to unlawfully enrich ourselves by,

among other things, preparing and submitting, and causing to be prepared and

subm itted, HUD-I Settlement Forms, and supporting documents, which contained false

and fraudulent information as to material facts, to obtain

Everbank and First Franklin,a division of National

residential propedies, and to mislead Ienders as

modgage proceeds with regard to residential propedies Iocated at 10543 Versailles

Boulevard, W ellington, Florida and 10727 Versailles Boulevard, W ellington, Florida.

mortgage money from

City Bank, for the purchase of

to the ultimate distribution of the

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, served as the title and closing agent for a real

estate transaction for propedies Iocated at 10543 Versailles Boulevard, W ellington,

Florida and 10727 Versailles Boulevard, W ellington, Florida. Defendant KIM BERLY S.

DAISE, and others created, and caused to be created, fraudulent HUD-IS and

fraudulent supporting documentation, and caused fraudulent HUD-IS to be provided to

Ienders to mislead Ienders as to the purchase prices, which were inflated. The

fraudulent HUD-IS were com pleted by Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others, to

make the Ienders believe that the straw buyers had paid a deposit and would pay

additional cash due at closing when in fact as Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and

others knew, the straw buyers paid no money towards the transactions. In addition,

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others misled the lenders as to the ultimate

2
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distribution of the mortgage monies obtained from EverBank and First Franklin.

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others created, and caused to be created,

second HUD-IS which were signed by and provided to the sellers and the sellers'

representatives which did not match the HUD-IS provided to EverBank and First

Franklin - a practice known as preparing ''double HUD-1s''. The double HUD-IS were

used to keep EverBank and First Franklin from Iearning that the sales prices had been

inflated.

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others arranged for the fraud proceeds,

i.e., the difference between the actual, Iegitimate sales price of the properties and the

fraudulently obtained modgage loans, to be disbursed to members of the conspiracy by

creating, and causing to be created, fraudulent HUD-IS and supporting documentation,

which made it appear as if the fraud proceeds were being paid to the sellers of the

propedies.

Based on the materially false and fraudulent representations in the HUD-1s, and

other related documents which had been submitted and caused to be submioed by

defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE,and her co-conspirators, EverBank funded at Ieast

$1.575 million in modgage Ioans to a straw buyer and First Franklin funded at Ieast

$1.168 million in modgage Ioans to a straw buyer. The loan proceeds for each loan

were wired to KIMBERLY S. DAISE'S title company bank accounts. KIM BERLY S.

DAISE funneled approximately $533,181

by co-conspirators,

of the Ioan proceeds to businesses controlled

who then divided the money with the other co-conspirators. The

fraudulent Ioan proceeds were paid to the defendant and her co-conspirators and used
3
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for the benefit of the defendant and her co-conspirators.

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, served as the title and closing agent for a real

estate transaction for propedy Iocated at 10727 Versailles Boulevard, W ellington,

Florida. Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others

created, a fraudulent HUD-I

created, and caused to be

and fraudulent supporting documentation, and caused a

fraudulent HUD-I to be provided to First Franklin, a division of National City Bank, to

mislead First Franklin as to the purchase price, to make First Franklin believe that the

straw buyer had paid a deposit and would pay additional cash due at closing when in

fact the straw buyer paid no money towards the transaction, and misled First Franklin as

to the ultimate distribution of the modgage monies obtained from First Franklin.

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others, created, and caused to be created,

a second HUD-I which was signed by and provided to the seller and the seller's

representative which did not match the HUD-I provided to First Franklin - a practice

known as preparing ''double HUD-1s''. The double HUD-I was used to keep First

Franklin from Iearning that the sales prices had been inflated.

Defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and others known and unknown, arranged for

the fraud proceeds, i.e., the difference between the actual, Iegitimate sales price of the

propedy and the fraudulently obtained mortgage Ioans, to be disbursed to members of

the conspiracy by creating, and causing to be created,a fraudulent HUD-I and

suppoding documentation,which made it appear as if the fraud proceeds were being

paid to the sellers of the propedy.

Based on the materially false and fraudulent representations in the HUD-1s, and
4
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other related documents which had been submitted and caused to be subm itted by

defendant KIMBERLY S. DAISE, and her co-conspirators, First Franklin funded at Ieast

$1,183,500 in mortgage Ioans to a straw buyer. The loan proceeds were wired to

KIMBERLY S. DAISE'S title company bank accounts. KIMBERLY S. DAISE funneled

approximately $296,967.98 of the Ioan proceeds to businesses controlled by co-

conspirators, who then divided the money with the other co-conspirators. The fraudulent

Ioan proceeds were paid to the defendant and her co-conspirators and used for the

benefit of the defendant and her co-conspirators.

Settlement Statements, otherwise known as the FormsHUD-I ($'HUD-1s''), are

balance sheets which reflect the financial aspects of a real estate closing and list all

monies coming into a real estate closing, including aII modgages, down payments, and

''cash to close'', and aII disbursements of those funds, including payments of prior

modgages, miscellaneous charges, and seller proceeds. A separate HUD-I is

prepared by the title agency for each modgage which funds the real estate transaction.

The HUD-IS are signed by the seller, buyer, and closing agent at the real estate

clgsing. The buyer, seller, their representatives, the title/closing agent and the lender aIl

receive copies of the HUD-IS which are signed at the real estate closing. In a Iegitimate

real estate closing, the HUD-IS provided to the buyer, seller, their representatives, the

title agent and the Iender are identical to one another. In the present case the HUD-IS

given to the two sellers and to the two Ienders did not match in as m uch as the sales

prices on the sellers' forms were Iower than the sales prices on the lenders' forms, the

cash to close were different on each of the forms and the distributions were different on

5

Case 9:11-cr-80175-KLR   Document 19   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/11/2012   Page 15 of 18



United States v. Daise
Case No. 1 I-8OI7FCR-RYSKAMP/HOPKINS
Stipulated Factual pmffer

each of the forms, aII of which were created at the direction of defendant KIMBERLY S.

DAISE.

Defendant is entering a plea of guilty to the charge in the information, that

is conspiracy to commit fraud on a financialinstitution, pursuant to Title 18, United

States Code, Section 1349. The elements of this offense are:

F i rst :

Second'.

That two or more persons in some way or m anner,
came to a mutual understanding to try to accomplish
a com mon and unlawful plan, as charged in the

indictment;

That the Defendant, knowing the unlawful

purpose of the plan, willfully joined in it; and

That the object of the unlawful plan was to defraud
one or more financial institutions.

Th i rd :

To convict a defendant of comm itting fraud on a financial institution, pursuant to

18 USC 51344, the government mustprove (1) that the defendant intentionally

participated in a scheme or adifice to defraud another of money or propedy; and 2) that

the intended victim of the scheme or adifice to defraud was a federally-insured financial

institution (as defined by 18 USC j20). Proof of the materiality of the false statement is

an element of bank fraud. There is no requirement that the defendant personally

benefitted from the scheme or artifice to defraud the bank. In the present case,

however, the charged defendant did receive benefits from the conspiracy in the form of

funds.

1, KIMBERLY S. DAISE, admit that from in or about July 23, 2006, through in or

about Novem ber 15, 2006, at Palm Beach, Broward, and Miam i-Dade Counties, in the

6
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Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, l engaged in a conspiracy to comm it fraud

on a financial institution, as described above, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1349.

1, KIMBERLY S. DAISE, admit that the statements contained in this Proffer are

true are correct and agree that the United States can use them for any purpose,

whether l plead guilty or not, including as evidence in a case-in-chief against me in any

trial. I specifically waive any rights I may otherwise have under Federal Rule of

Evidence 410 and Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. I further

acknowledge that I have reviewed this statement and the rights I am waiving with my

attorney, Michael D. W alsh, Esq., and am satisfied with the representation of my

attorney in this matter.
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1, KIMBERLY S. DAISE, am pleading guilty to Count 1 of the Inform ation filed in

this case because l am in fact guilty of the charges.

,,/1
Date: # By:

BERL . AISE
DEFENDANT

By:
M HAEL D. w ALsH, EsQ.
ATTORNEY FoR DEFENDANT

/-/!y=Date:
/' /

ACCEPTED:

I r, > vzDate:

W IFREDO A. FERRER
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By:
LLEN L. COHEN

ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

8
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